THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Dec 01 2025**

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-000930  
Circuit Court Case No. 2023-CP-20-00374

---

Stephanie Pressley, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Gail  
Wright, ..... Plaintiff,

v.

Ridgeway Manor Healthcare Center, LLC, Deborah Sparks, and  
James McCollum, ..... Defendants,

of which

Ridgeway Manor Healthcare Center, LLC, Deborah Sparks, and  
James McCollum are the..... Appellants,

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS RIDGEWAY MANOR HEALTHCARE CENTER,

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Circuit Court erred in denying Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration, despite the inclusion of an arbitration provision in the integrated Admission Agreement signed by DSS on behalf of Mrs. Wright.**
- II. Whether the Circuit Court erred by ignoring the Family Court’s prior order requiring DSS to place Mrs. Wright into a facility that met her level of care, and instead, making her vulnerability the focal point of its decision, which is not germane to the *legal inquiry* regarding the binding nature of the arbitration agreement signed by DSS as ordered by the Family Court.**
- III. Whether the Circuit Court’s ruling conflicts with the principles of equitable estoppel, given that Plaintiff accepted the benefits of the Admission Agreement while seeking to avoid the arbitration provision contained within that same contract.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants Ridgeway Manor Healthcare Center, LLC (“Ridgeway Manor”); Deborah Sparks; and James McCollum (collectively, “Appellants”), appeal the denial of their Motion to Dismiss, Compel Arbitration, and Stay Court Proceedings pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act 9 U.S.C. § 1, et seq., and Rules 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. The trial judge denied Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration on August 29, 2024, and denied Appellants’ motion for reconsideration on April 14, 2025. Appellants timely filed a notice of appeal on May 13, 2025.

### **I. Background**

On or about May 16, 2021, Mrs. Gail Wright contacted law enforcement stating that her caregivers—which includes Plaintiff Stephanie Pressley (“Plaintiff”)—abandoned her in her home for three (3) consecutive days, leaving her in a chair and unable to care for herself for that three-day period. 5/18/2021 Family Court Order at 1–2 (Exhibit 1 to Plaintiff’s Memo in Opp.); Guardian ad Litem Report at 2 (Exhibit 5 to Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition). At that time, Mrs. Wright was a 66-year-old, paraplegic female that required constant care. *See* Guardian ad

Litem Report at 2. The South Carolina Department of Social Services (“DSS”) took Mrs. Wright into emergency protective custody and transported Mrs. Wright to Prisma Health Richland Hospital, where she remained until June 1, 2021. Guardian ad Litem Report at 2.

Two (2) days after the emergency removal, on May 18, 2021, the Richland County Family Court conducted a 72-hour hearing and found probable cause to believe Mrs. Wright was a “vulnerable adult” under S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(11). 5/18/2021 Family Court Order at 1–3; Guardian ad Litem Report at 3. The Family Court concluded that Mrs. Wright faced imminent danger to her life or physical safety due to neglect and that protective services were necessary. 5/18/2021 Family Court Order at 1–3. As such, the Family Court placed Mrs. Wright under the protective custody of DSS and granted DSS the right to provide for and authorize such routine and/or emergency medical care for Wright. 5/18/2021 Family Court Order at 1–3. Specifically, the Family Court ordered that DSS retain custody of Mrs. Wright and further directed that she “*shall* be placed in a facility that meets her level of care.” 5/18/2021 Family Court Order at 3.

The next day, on May 19, 2021, the Family Court formally appointed Peter Reinhart as Guardian ad Litem (“GAL”) for Mrs. Wright pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-45(C), and also appointed counsel to represent her. 5/19/2021 Order (Ex. 2 to Plaintiff’s Memo in Opp.). The GAL submitted a report to the Family Court in late June of 2021. In the report, the GAL stated Mrs. Wright’s family members, which includes Plaintiff, “abandoned her in her chair for a period of three days when her family members had other obligations.” Guardian ad Litem Report at 5. Essentially, the GAL found that *Plaintiff—who is Mrs. Wright’s daughter—and other family members completely abandoned Mrs. Wright in her wheelchair for three days*, which led to DSS taking Mrs. Wright into emergency protective custody and transporting her to a hospital.

On or about May 28, 2021, Appellant Ridgeway Manor notified DSS representatives Fantasia Hartwell and Keri Singleton that it could accept Mrs. Wright as a resident when the hospital discharged her from its care. In preparation for Mrs. Wright's admission to Ridgeway Manor, DSS representatives Fantasia Hartwell and Keri Singleton signed various *required* agreements and documents in connection with Mrs. Wright's admission and residency, care, and treatment at Ridgeway Manor on behalf of Mrs. Wright. *See* Ridgeway Manor Admission and Financial Agreement ("Admission Agreement") (Exhibit 3 to Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition).

The first sentence of the first page of the Admission Agreement states in bold, underlined text: "**THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE SECTION 15-48, ET SEQ, AS MODIFIED THEREIN.**" Admission Agreement at 1 (emphasis in original). As made obvious by the bold, underlined text in the first page, the Admission Agreement contains a multi-page arbitration provision, located at pages ten through twelve of the twenty-six-page contract, and incorporated as "Addendum One" to the Admission Agreement. *See* Admission Agreement at 10–12. The arbitration section states, in the very first sentence it "is an addendum to and part of the Admission Agreement." Admission Agreement at 10. Indeed, every page—including the arbitration pages—contains the exact same document footer: "Admission & Financial Agreement."

The arbitration provision at issue provides, in pertinent part:

"The Facility [Appellant Ridgeway Manor] and the Resident and/or Resident's Authorized Representative (hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Parties") understand and agree that any legal dispute, controversy, demand, or claim that arises out of or relates to the Resident Admission Agreement or is in any way connected to the Resident's stay at the Facility shall be resolved exclusively by binding Arbitration; and not by a lawsuit or resort to other court process.

Admission Agreement at 10.

The Admission Agreement, including the arbitration provision, is binding on the Resident and/or Resident’s Representative, as well as the Resident’s representatives, agents, heirs, successors, and assigns. *See* Admission Agreement at 3, Art. 4.4; at 7, Art. 17.1; at 10. Assent to Ridgeway Manor’s Admission Agreement is required for a person to stay in the facility. *See* Admission Agreement at 5, Art. 6.1 (noting if a resident terminates the agreement, they “must leave the facility”).

The Admission Agreement was executed by Fantasia Hartwell as the “Responsible Party/Resident Representative” of Mrs. Wright and counter-signed by Keri Singleton, the DSS Case Manager. *See* Admission Agreement at 9. Mrs. Singleton was Mrs. Wright’s representative as her case manager for DSS. *See* Admission Agreement at 9. As noted above, the Family Court placed Mrs. Wright into the protective custody of DSS because it found Mrs. Wright was a “vulnerable adult” as defined in the Omnibus Adult Protection Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-5 *et seq.*, (“APA”) which specifically tasks DSS with providing “protective services,” which include “arranging for living quarters” and “securing medical services” for the vulnerable adult. The Family Court further *ordered* DSS to place Mrs. Wright into a facility that met her level of care. 5/18/2021 Family Court Order at 3. Accordingly, both the Family Court Order and the APA gave DSS the authority to place Mrs. Wright into a suitable facility as a part of its duty to provide protective services, which necessarily included signing the Admission Agreement for Ridgeway Manor since assent to the Agreement is a condition precedent for any resident’s admission to the facility.

## **II. Procedural History**

Following Mrs. Wright’s death, Plaintiff commenced this lawsuit by filing a Summons and Complaint on November 9, 2023. *See* Compl. Plaintiff has asserted medical negligence causes of

action against these Appellants in this wrongful death and survival action. Compl. at 9–11. These allegations arise from and pertain to the care and treatment provided to Mrs. Wright while she was a resident of Ridgeway Manor.

Appellants moved to compel arbitration, relying on the arbitration provision contained within the Admission Agreement signed by DSS employees. Mot. to Compel (filed Jan. 12, 2024); Mem. in Support (filed July 1, 2024). Plaintiff opposed, arguing that neither Mrs. Wright nor her statutory beneficiaries ever agreed to arbitrate and that DSS lacked authority to bind her to an arbitration clause. Pl.’s Res. in Opp. (filed May 28, 2024).

After the Circuit Court heard oral arguments on July 5, 2024, and considered briefing, it denied Appellants’ motion to compel arbitration on August 29, 2024. *See* MTC hearing Tr. (July 5, 2024); 8/19/2024 Order.

Appellants filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC. Mot. for Reconsideration (filed Aug. 29, 2024). Plaintiff opposed. Pl.’s Res. in Opp. (filed Jan. 13, 2025). The Circuit Court heard oral arguments on March 25, 2025. *See* MFR hearing Tr. (Mar. 25, 2025). The Circuit Court denied the motion for reconsideration on April 14, 2025. 4/14/2025 Order. This appeal followed upon Appellants’ timely filing of the Notice of Appeal on May 13, 2025.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Whether an arbitration agreement may be enforced against a nonsignatory to the agreement is a matter subject to de novo review by an appellate court.” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 335, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). Accordingly, this Court owes no deference to the Circuit Court’s conclusions of law; but, as to factual findings, those “will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings.” *Id.*; *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Martin*, 437 S.C. 148, 157, 877 S.E.2d 341, 345 (2022) (“This Court applies de novo review to

questions of law, so it need not defer to the determination of the court below.”).

Likewise, the interpretation of a statute is a question of law, which this Court is free to decide without any deference to the circuit court below. *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc.*, 437 S.C. at 157, 877 S.E.2d at 345; *Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 355, 782 S.E.2d 590, 592 (2016).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Circuit Court’s denial of the motion to compel arbitration was based on several critical errors of law. First, the Circuit Court misconstrued the scope of authority granted to DSS pursuant to the Family Court’s Order and the APA, S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-5 *et seq.* The Family Court placed Mrs. Wright in DSS’s custody and authorized the agency to place her in a suitable facility pursuant to the APA. DSS, acting under *both* a court order and authority conferred by the APA, had actual or, at the very least, apparent authority to sign all requisite admission paperwork on Mrs. Wright’s behalf, including the Admission Agreement containing an arbitration provision.

Second, the Circuit Court erroneously focused on Mrs. Wright’s competence, a factor that was legally irrelevant. The question of DSS’s actual or apparent authority is a *legal inquiry* grounded in statutory interpretation; it does not turn on whether Mrs. Wright was mentally competent at the time of admission. Indeed, whether Mrs. Wright was competent or impaired, DSS had the authority to sign the Admission Agreement on her behalf under either scenario. The Circuit Court’s conclusions as to competency ignored the Family Court’s findings of vulnerability and ultimately failed to consider the controlling legal question presented as to actual or apparent authority.

Finally, Plaintiff is equitably estopped from denying the enforceability of the arbitration provision. Having accepted the benefits of the Admission Agreement—such as medical care and

placement at Ridgeway Manor, *after abandoning Mrs. Wright* —Plaintiff cannot now repudiate the arbitration provision. The arbitration provision is an integral part of the same contract that created the legal relationship giving rise to this lawsuit, and Plaintiff’s attempt to avoid it is inconsistent with the principles of estoppel. Thus, the Circuit Court’s ruling should be reversed, and the motion to compel arbitration should be granted.

### ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred in denying Appellant Ridgeway Manor’s motion to compel arbitration. Arbitration “is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed to submit.” *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 241, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). However, well recognized common law principles hold that in certain circumstances a “nonsignatory can enforce, or be bound by, an arbitration provision within a contract executed by other parties.” *Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp.*, 400 S.C. 281, 288, 733 S.E.2d 597, 600 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *Int’l Paper Co. v. Schwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH*, 206 F.3d 411, 416–17 (4th Cir. 2000)). “Whether an arbitration agreement may be enforced against nonsignatories, and under what circumstances, is an issue controlled by state law.” *Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 173–74. “South Carolina has recognized several theories that could bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements under general principles of contract and agency law, including (1) incorporation by reference, (2) assumption, (3) agency, (4) veil piercing/alter ego, and (5) estoppel.” *Id.* at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174.

Furthermore, under South Carolina law, “a personal representative of a decedent domiciled in this State at his death has the same standing to sue and be sued in the courts of this State and the courts of any other jurisdiction as his decedent had immediately prior to death.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-703(c). Thus, Plaintiff is bound in her capacity as personal representative if Mrs. Wright

would have been bound immediately prior to her death. *See THI of S.C. at Columbia, LLC v. Wiggins*, No. CA 3:11-888-CMC, 2011 WL 4089435, at \*5 (D.S.C. Sept. 13, 2011).

Here, the Circuit Court made critical legal errors throughout its Order denying the motion to compel arbitration. First, the Circuit Court failed to conduct a proper analysis on the authority conveyed to DSS pursuant to the Family Court's Order and South Carolina statutory law. Second, the Circuit Court improperly made factual findings that conflicted with the Family Court's findings and erroneously relied on these improper findings to influence its decision. Third, the Circuit Court improperly treated the Admission Agreement and the arbitration provision as separate contracts, resulting in an improper and cursory estoppel analysis. For these reasons, and those more fully set forth below, this Court must reverse the Circuit Court's Order and compel arbitration.

**I. DSS had authority pursuant to the Family Court Order and the Adult Protection Act to execute necessary admission documents in order to secure medical services for Mrs. Wright.**

DSS, acting under both a court order and authority conferred by the South Carolina APA had actual or, at the very least, apparent authority to sign all requisite admission paperwork on Mrs. Wright's behalf.

"An agent's authority is composed of his or her actual authority, whether express or implied, together with the apparent authority which the principal by his or her conduct is precluded from denying." *Roberson v. S. Fin. of S.C., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 10, 615 S.E.2d 112, 115 (2005). Consequently, an agent's authority to act is either actual or apparent. *Id.* at 10–11, 615 S.E.2d at 115; *see also Charleston, S.C. Registry for Golf & Tourism, Inc. v. Young Clement Rivers & Tisdale, LLP*, 359 S.C. 635, 642, 598 S.E.2d 717, 721 (Ct. App. 2004) ("An agency relationship may be established by evidence of actual or apparent authority.").

As to actual authority, this type of authority may be either express or implied. *Roberson*,

365 S.C. at 10–11, 615 S.E.2d at 115; *Gallipeau v. Renewal by Andersen LLC*, 742 F. Supp. 3d 508, 517 (D.S.C. 2024) (noting “actual authority, exists when the principal expressly or implicitly grants the agent authority to perform a particular act”). Express actual authority is when a principal directly tells an agent they have the authority to take a certain action, *see Roberson*, 365 S.C. at 10–11, 615 S.E.2d at 115, whereas implied actual authority is the authority either “(1) to do what is necessary, usual, and proper to accomplish or perform an agent’s express responsibilities or (2) to act in a manner in which an agent believes the principal wishes the agent to act based on the agent’s reasonable interpretation of the principal’s manifestation in light of the principal’s objectives and other facts known to the agent.” Restatement (Third) Of Agency § 2.01, Comment b (2006).

On the other hand, apparent authority “is when the principal knowingly permits the agent to exercise authority, or the principal holds the agent out as possessing such authority.” *Richardson v. P.V., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 615, 682 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2009). “Apparent authority to do an act is created as to a third person by written or spoken words *or any other conduct of the principal* which, reasonably interpreted, causes the third person to believe the principal consents to have the act done on his behalf by the person purporting to act for him.” *Froneberger v. Smith*, 406 S.C. 37, 47, 748 S.E.2d 625, 630 (Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis in original) (citation omitted). In other words, the law focuses on the *perception created in the mind of the third person*: if the principal’s behavior would make a reasonable observer think the agent has the authority to act on the principal’s behalf, apparent authority exists. *Id.* This requires that the principal either intended to create that perception or should have recognized that its conduct was likely to cause such a belief. *Id.* Importantly, apparent authority cannot be based solely on what the agent says or does; it must stem from the principal’s manifestations. *Id.*

Based on these principles, South Carolina courts require a showing of the following three elements for apparent authority: “(1) that the purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) that there was a reliance upon the representation; and (3) that there was a change of position to the relying party’s detriment.” *Charleston, S.C. Registry for Golf & Tourism, Inc.*, 359 S.C. at 643, 598 S.E.2d at 721 (quoting *Graves v. Serbin Farms, Inc.*, 306 S.C. 60, 63, 409 S.E.2d 769, 771 (1991)).

Here, the Circuit Court held DSS workers Keri Singleton and Fantasia Hartwell did not have the “appropriate legal authority to execute the arbitration agreement for it to be enforceable.” 8/19/2024 Order at 4. Specifically, the Circuit Court held that the APA did “not authorize SCDSS employees to provide legal services to Mrs. Wright or waive her constitutional right to a jury trial.” 8/19/2024 Order at 4–5. The Circuit Court further found that the Family Court Order provided no such authority either. 8/19/2024 Order at 5. In doing so, the Circuit Court barely gave any analysis on the APA, the legal force of the Family Court’s Order, or the types of authority that South Carolina recognizes as sufficient to bind nonsignatories to an agreement under agency law. As discussed below, the Circuit Court’s ultimate conclusion is unsound and must be reversed.

**A. DSS had express actual authority pursuant to the Family Court Order and their statutory responsibilities to place Mrs. Wright in the facility.**

The APA, S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-5 *et seq.*, was enacted “to protect vulnerable adults from abuse, neglect, and exploitation.” *Williams v. Watkins*, 379 S.C. 530, 534, 665 S.E.2d 243, 245 (Ct. App. 2008). The APA “generally calls for administrative and regulatory investigative procedures, sets forth reporting requirements, and criminalizes the abuse, neglect and exploitation of vulnerable adults.” *Williams-Garrett v. Murphy*, 106 F. Supp. 2d 834, 841 (D.S.C. 2000). Vulnerable adults are defined under the APA as:

a person eighteen years of age or older who has a physical or mental condition

which substantially impairs the person from adequately providing for his or her own care or protection. This includes a person who is impaired in the ability to adequately provide for the person's own care or protection because of the infirmities of aging including, but not limited to, organic brain damage, advanced age, and physical, mental, or emotional dysfunction. A resident of a facility is a vulnerable adult.

S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10(11).

The APA empowers the Family Court to place vulnerable adults into protective services.

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