RECEIVED
Apr 21 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FAIRFIELD COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas
Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-000930
Circuit Court Case No. 2023-CP-20-00374

Stephanie Pressley, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Gail Wright
.....Respondent,

v.

Ridgeway Manor Healthcare Center, LLC, Deborah Sparks, and James McCollum,
..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RICHARDSON THOMAS, LLC

By: s/Chris Moore
Chris Moore (SCB: 77934)
383 W. Cheves Street
Florence, SC 29501
T: 803.281.8150
chris@richardsonthomas.com

Grace Babcock Sturman (SCB: 105714)

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

Appellants primarily contend that the circuit court failed to analyze the Adult Protection Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 43-35-10 *et seq.* (“APA”), the Family Court Order, or the types of authority that South Carolina recognizes to bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements. *See* (Appellants Initial Brief at p.10). However, the circuit court was correct to decline to compel Respondent to arbitration because DSS does not possess the authority to bind Mrs. Wright to arbitration.

The Arbitration Agreement Addendum was executed (improperly)¹ by DSS employee Keri Singleton. *See* (R. pp. 118-120). Mrs. Wright did not sign the arbitration agreement herself. *See* (R. p. 157, ¶¶ 1-2). Therefore, the DSS employees must have had the appropriate legal authority to execute the arbitration agreement on Mrs. Wright’s behalf in order for it to be enforceable. At the time of admission to Appellants’ facility, Mrs. Wright was competent. *See* (R. pp. 146-149). Mrs. Wright also had a court appointed attorney, Ms. Lynn Hensel, and a Guardian *ad Litem*, Mr. Peter Reinhart. *See* (R. p. 103 ¶¶ 7-8); (R. pp. 105-107). Yet none signed this arbitration agreement. DSS employes lacked the authority to execute the arbitration agreement for Mrs. Wright.

¹ (R. p. 52 line 1-20).

Appellants argue throughout their brief that the circuit court erred by failing to recognize that the APA and the Family Court Order both gave DSS the authority to bind Mrs. Wright to the arbitration agreement in this case. Of note, in a recent unpublished decision, this Court examined this exact issue and determined that a DSS employee did not have the authority to sign an arbitration agreement on behalf of a nursing home resident. *See Pace et al. v. Lake Emory Post Acute Care et al.*, No. 2024-UP-261, at *6 (S.C. Ct. App. July 17, 2024). The facility there made the same arguments Appellants make here, that the Family Court ordering the resident into DSS custody and the APA together authorized DSS to execute the arbitration agreement on the resident's behalf. *See id.* This Court rejected that argument holding that the plain reading of section 43-35-10(9) of the APA "provides that DSS is expected to arrange for living quarters, secure medical care, and hire an attorney for the vulnerable adult if one is needed." *Id.* The Court, however, held that section 43-35-10(9) does not grant DSS authority to waive a constitutional right of a vulnerable adult. *Id.*

Because it is undisputed that Mrs. Wright was mentally competent at the time of her admission and did not execute the arbitration agreement, DSS lacked authority to execute that agreement on her behalf. In order to compel Respondent to arbitration, Appellants must demonstrate that DSS had the requisite authority to bind Mrs. Wright. They cannot.

A. The APA and the Family Court Order do not expressly authorize DSS to waive Mrs. Wright's constitutional right to a trial by jury.

Appellants argue that DSS's authority to bind Mrs. Wright to arbitration flows from the Adult Protection Act's ("APA") definition of "protective services" and the Family Court Order placing Mrs. Wright in DSS's custody. *See* (Appellants' Initial Brief at pp.8-12.) The Adult Protection Act defines "protective services" as:

[t]hose services whose objective is to protect a vulnerable adult from harm caused by the vulnerable adult or another. These services include, but are not limited to, evaluating the need for protective services, securing and coordinating existing services, arranging for living quarters, obtaining financial benefits to which a vulnerable adult is entitled, and securing medical services, supplies, and legal services.

S.C. Code. Ann. § 43-35-10(9) (2015).

According to Appellants, once the Family Court adjudicated Mrs. Wright a “vulnerable adult,” directed that DSS retain custody, and ordered that she be placed in a suitable facility,² DSS necessarily possessed authority to execute all admission paperwork on her behalf—including an arbitration agreement waiving her constitutional right to a jury trial. *See* (Appellants’ Initial Brief at pp.8-12). Appellants further characterize the Family Court’s authority under the APA as “exceedingly broad,” asserting that the statute “empowers the Family Court to place vulnerable adults into protective services” without limitation. *Id.* at p.12. From this premise, Appellants argue that the combined effect of the APA and the Family Court order authorized DSS to waive Mrs. Wright’s constitutional rights as part of effectuating her placement at Ridgeway Manor. *Id.*

It strains credulity to suggest that this grants authority for any random person employed by DSS to waive a constitutional right of a competent non-signatory. The circuit court squarely rejected this precise argument. It held that while the APA authorizes DSS to arrange placement, secure medical care, and hire legal counsel for a vulnerable adult, it does not authorize DSS

² Appellants also argue for the first time on appeal that because the Family Court possesses the ability to initiate involuntary commitment proceedings, which restrict an individual’s constitutional rights, it had the power to waive Mrs. Wright’s constitutional rights here. *See* (Appellants’ Initial Brief at pp.11, 13, 21). This argument should be rejected because it was not raised to the circuit court. It should also be rejected on its face as involuntary commitment procedures require a number of constitutional guardrails and is a vastly different procedural remedy than temporary custody of a vulnerable adult.

employees to provide legal services or waive a competent adult’s constitutional right to a jury trial. *See* (R. pp. 4-5).

While not binding, a panel of this Court in an unpublished decision expressly rejected the argument advanced by the Appellant, finding that the “plain reading of this provision provides that DSS is expected to arrange for living quarters, secure medical care, and hire an attorney for the vulnerable adult if one is needed.” *See Pace*, No. 2024-UP-261, at *6. This Court went on to find that neither a Family Court order nor the APA conferred such broad authority and expressly concluded that the APA does not permit any DSS employee to waive a vulnerable adult’s right to a jury trial. *See id.* (“We do not believe that the statute grants authority for any person employed by DSS to waive a constitutional right of a vulnerable adult.”) Appellants’ arguments on appeal merely repackage the same statutory leap that a panel of this Court recently rejected.

B. Appellants’ implied-authority arguments, if not waived, are without merit.

Next, Appellants contend that DSS possessed implied authority—again purportedly derived from the Family Court’s order and the APA—to “take all steps reasonably necessary” to effectuate Mrs. Wright’s placement in a suitable facility, which Appellants assert included executing the arbitration agreement at Ridgeway Manor.³ *See* (Appellants’ Initial Brief at pp.12-13). Appellants cite no legal authority for this proposition, only asserting that the Family Court’s authority to protect a vulnerable adult is broad, and that as an “investigative entity” the APA

³ Appellants appear to confuse “admitting Mrs. Wright” with “committing Mrs. Wright” throughout their brief. *See* (Appellants Initial Brief at pp.11, 13, 21). Appellants also conflate court-ordered constitutional deprivations of liberty in involuntary commitments with waiving constitutional right to a jury trial to attempt to show that the Family Court may empower DSS to deprive a vulnerable adult’s constitutional rights without issue. This is not a case of involuntary commitments, and these constitutional rights are not the same thing. In any event, this issue was never raised or ruled upon, and it simply does not exist in the record. It is not preserved and must be rejected.

empowers DSS to require facility cooperation.⁴ *See* (Appellants’ Initial Brief at pp.11-12). Nothing in the Family Court’s order supports such an expansive reading. *See* (R. pp. 101-104). The Family Court Order directed DSS to place Mrs. Wright in appropriate care; it did not authorize DSS to waive her constitutional rights, nor did it mandate placement at Ridgeway Manor specifically. Claiming for the first time that the facility conditioned admission on an arbitration agreement, even if properly preserved, cannot expand DSS’s statutory authority or convert administrative placement power into unbounded agency authority.

Even setting preservation aside, Appellants implied-authority argument is simply a repackaged version of the same statutory theory rejected by the circuit court and by this Court in *Pace*. Appellants again assert—without support—that the APA’s “text and design leave no other reasonable conclusion” than that DSS was authorized to execute all admission documents, including an arbitration agreement. *See* (Appellants’ Initial Brief at 12, 14). Not only does this argument ignore the circuit court’s finding that the admission agreement and the arbitration agreement addendum did not merge and were separate documents, but this argument rests on the same flawed premise rejected by the circuit court and this Court in *Pace*: that DSS’s authority to arrange placement and secure medical care implicitly includes authority to waive constitutional rights. As this Court held in *Pace*, the plain language of the APA authorizes DSS to arrange living quarters, secure medical care, and hire legal counsel if needed—but it does not authorize DSS employees to waive a nursing home resident’s right to a jury trial. *Pace*, No. 2024-UP-261, at *6.

Appellants devote substantial briefing to arguing that the circuit court misinterpreted the APA—without advancing any interpretation meaningfully different from the one the circuit court

⁴ This issue was not raised in the lower court, and in any event, DSS’s general statutory power to require cooperation in providing protective services has no bearing on the issues presented in this arbitration appeal.

adopted. Instead, Appellants rely on inapposite authority, including a United States Supreme Court decision addressing criminal asset forfeiture, *Luis v. United States*, 578 U.S. 5, 26, 136 S. Ct. 1083, 1097 (2016), and other cases, including a Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals decision, discussing statutory word choice in contexts unrelated to the APA or Arbitration agreements. *See* (Appellants' Initial Brief at p.15) (citing *United States v. Helton*, 944 F.3d 198, 206 (4th Cir. 2019); *Hamm v. Cent. States Health & Life Co. of Omaha*, 299 S.C. 500, 386 S.E.2d 250 (1989); *State v. Cain*, 78 S.C. 348, 58 S.E. 937 (1907)). None of these authorities support the conclusion that DSS possessed limitless implied authority through the APA and the Family Court Order.

Appellants attempt to manufacture ambiguity in the APA statute where none exists. This Court was clear in *Pace* that the APA does not grant authority to DSS to execute an arbitration agreement. *Pace*, No. 2024-UP-261, at *6. Appellants' argument assumes that DSS employees possessed limitless authority to take any action demanded by a particular facility in order to effectuate placement of a vulnerable adult. Neither the APA nor the Family Court's order supports such an expansive grant of authority. Mrs. Wright could have been placed at any number of facilities, and nothing in the record suggests that placement at Ridgeway Manor specifically—or execution of its arbitration addendum—was mandated by the Family Court or by the APA or by the facility. The circuit court correctly recognized these limits, and its ruling should be affirmed.

C. Appellants remaining authority arguments are repetitive and do not change the conclusion that DSS did not possess the authority to bind Mrs. Wright to arbitration.

Across several pages, Appellants reiterate the same contention—that because DSS was authorized by the APA and the Family Court Order to facilitate Mrs. Wright's placement in a suitable facility, it necessarily possessed unlimited authority to bind Mrs. Wright and Ms. Pressley (both non-signatories) to a waiver of a constitutional right. *See* (Appellants' Initial Brief at pp.17-

22). The circuit court correctly rejected that premise, and nothing in Appellants' arguments alters the analysis. Respondent will respond to each point briefly:

Contrary to Appellants' first and second contentions, the circuit court did not hold that DSS possessed implied authority to bind Mrs. Wright to contracts generally. *See* (Appellants Initial Brief at pp.17-19). Rather, the court recognized the limited authority conferred by the Adult Protection Act: arranging placement, securing medical care, and coordinating services. *See* (R. p. 4). That authority permits DSS to facilitate admission; it does not transform DSS employees into agents empowered to waive constitutional rights on behalf of a competent adult. The distinction the circuit court drew was not between "contracts" and "arbitration," but between administrative acts necessary to secure care and legal acts requiring knowing and voluntary consent. In any event, the circuit court correctly found that the arbitration addendum did not merge, as will be discussed *infra*.

Appellants then argue that the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") forbids treating an arbitration addendum as "uniquely forbidden" and somehow the circuit court did just that. *See* (Appellants' Initial Brief at p.19). Appellants cite to the dissent in *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, to argue that the circuit court erred by declining to compel Respondent to arbitration when it has empowered DSS to sign every part of the admission agreement except the arbitration provision.⁵ *See* (Appellants' Initial Brief at p.19) (citing *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 358-9, 755 S.E.2d 450, 457 (2014) (Toal, C.J., dissenting)). Notwithstanding that "[s]tate law controls when an arbitration agreement may be enforced against someone who has not

⁵ Appellants conveniently characterize the document titled "Arbitration Addendum" as an "arbitration provision" embedded within the Admission Agreement. That characterization ignores the circuit court's express finding that the Arbitration Addendum is a separate agreement that does not merge with the Admission Agreement. *See* (R. p. 5).

signed it,” while the FAA does require arbitration agreements to be placed on equal footing with other contracts, it does not create agency authority where none exists, nor does it preempt state-law principles governing who may waive constitutional rights. *Weaver*, 431 S.C. at 228, 847 S.E.2d at 271. The FAA does not apply, but in any event, the circuit court has not singled out the arbitration addendum; rather it found that because the admission agreement and arbitration addendum were separate, did not merge, and because the arbitration addendum was signed by someone without authority, it does not bind Mrs. Wright or Ms. Pressley.

Next, the argument that the circuit court erred by ignoring the “authority granted to DSS by the Family Court Order” has been discussed at length *supra* part I(A). Then, Appellants incorrectly suggest the circuit court’s holding would prevent DSS from ever placing a vulnerable adult in any facility whose admission paperwork includes an arbitration provision. *See* (Appellants’ Initial Brief at p.20). The circuit court did not adopt such a rule, nor did its reasoning support that conclusion. There is no evidence her admission was strictly conditioned upon signing the separate Arbitration Addendum. And if Appellants had given Mrs. Wright the opportunity to review the separate Arbitration Addendum and sign it herself, it would clearly bind her.

Appellants’ reliance on the Family Court’s order likewise fails. The order directed DSS to place Mrs. Wright in appropriate care; it did not authorize DSS to waive her constitutional rights, nor did it mandate placement at Ridgeway Manor specifically.

D. DSS cannot waive Mrs. Wright’s beneficiaries’ rights to a wrongful death claim.

Appellants appear to have abandoned their argument that Mrs. Wright’s beneficiaries are bound by the arbitration agreement, but assuming *arguendo* that it is somehow preserved, Appellants’ position fails because DSS did not have the authority to waive the statutory rights of Mrs. Wright’s beneficiaries. South Carolina law is clear that wrongful death claims exist for

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